1993

Yvonne Gillham dba Concepts West Interiors v. Donald E. Armstrong : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals has original jurisdiction of this matter pursuant to the provisions of § 78-2a-3(2)(d), Utah Code Ann. (1953, as amended) and Rules 3(a) and 4 of Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

IV

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Whether the trial court's failure to grant appellant/defendant's Motion for Continuance was inappropriate? The standard of review for determining whether to grant a continuance is the "abuse of discretion" standard by acting unreasonable. Batty v. Mitchell, 575 P.2d 1040, 1043 (Utah 1978).

II. Whether trial court's statements concerning possible repercussions resulting from appellant/defendant's decision to depose witnesses was improper and precluded appellant/defendant from deposing witnesses? Rulings of questions of law by the trial court will be reviewed by the appellate court for correctness and accord them no particular deference. Mountain Fuel Supply Co. v. Salt Lake City Corp., 752 P.2d 884 (Utah 1988).

III. Whether the trial court's decision not to admit appellant's documentary evidence of work performed by both parties to the contract was improper? The trial court's determination as to admissibility will not be upset absent an

abuse of discretion. Marshall v. Van Geruen, 790 P.2d 62 (Utah Ct.App. 1990).

IV. Whether the trial court's theory and grounds for determining whether appellant terminated the contract between the parties was proper? The trial court's interpretation of a contract is not entitled to any particular weight on appeal, where the court interprets contract as matter of law without regard for extrinsic evidence. Baker v. Western Sur. Co., 757 P.2d 878 (Utah Ct.App. 1988).

V. Whether the findings of fact drafted by appellee accurately reflected the trial court's findings? The trial court's findings of fact will not be disturbed on appeal unless they "are against the clear weight of the evidence", or if the appellate court otherwise reaches a definite or firm conviction that a mistake has been made. State v. Walker, 743 P.2d 191, 193 (Utah 1987).

V.

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES AND RULES

The following rules are applicable to the issues on appeal.

Rule 401, Utah Rules of Evidence:

"Relevant evidence" means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable that it would be without the evidence.

Rule 402, Utah Rules of Evidence:

All relevant evidence is admissible, except as otherwise provided by the Constitution of the United States or the Constitution of the

state of Utah, statute, or by these rules, or by other rules applicable in courts of this state. Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible.

Rule 804(b) (5), Utah Rules of Evidence:

A statement not specifically covered by any of the foregoing exceptions but having equivalent circumstantial guarantees of trustworthiness [will not be excluded] if the court determines that (A) the statement is offered as evidence of a material fact; (B) the statement is more probative on the point for which it is offered than any other evidence which the proponent can procure through reasonable efforts; and (C) the general purposes of these rules and the interests of justice will best be served by admission of the statement into evidence.

. . . .

Rule 40(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure:

Upon motion of a party, the court may in its discretion , and upon such terms as may be just, including the payment of costs occasioned by such postponement, postpone a trial or proceeding upon good cause shown.

. . . .

Rule 52(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure:

In all actions tried upon the facts without a jury or with an advisory jury, the court shall find the facts specially (sic) and state separately its conclusions of law thereon ...

Findings of fact, whether based on oral or documentary evidence, shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous ...

VI.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from the judgment granted by the Third

Circuit Court, Summit County, the Honorable Roger A. Livingston presiding. Plaintiff sued defendant for breach of service contract. Parties entered into an agreement, partly written and partly oral, for plaintiff to perform interior design work on defendant's home. Plaintiff's work was unsatisfactory and defendant terminated the contract before the work had been substantially completed. Appellant contends that he was not given sufficient time to prepare his defense and was not given a fair trial. Appellant maintains that the following acts by the trial court prevented a fair trial:

a. Defendant's Motion for Continuance was granted for either one week after the trial date (when defendant was to be out of town), or granted for the same day the trial date was previously set. The trial was held on the date of the original trial date set.

b. Defendant was told by the trial judge that depositions might result in an attorneys' fees judgment against the defendant regardless of whether there was in fact an attorneys' fee provision.

c. The trial court did not allow admission of relevant evidence relating to the amount of work addressed in the contract by either party.

d. The trial court found that plaintiff substantially completed the interior design work and therefore the total design fee of \$8,000 was due to plaintiff, minus the amount that defendant had already paid towards satisfaction of this amount.

e. The trial court found that the type of contract entered into by the parties was not terminated by defendant; defendants' attempt to terminate the contract was not sufficient to warrant such termination.

B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition at Trial Court

On February 10, 1993, this matter came before the Third Circuit Court, Summit County, the Honorable Roger A. Livingston presiding, for trial. The plaintiff was present and represented by her counsel, Brent A. Gold. The defendant was present and represented himself as a Pro Se defendant.

The trial court found that the plaintiff substantially completed the interior design work and thereby the total design fee of \$8,000.00 was due to plaintiff, minus the amount that the defendant had already paid plaintiff towards satisfaction of this amount. A judgment was entered on March 17, 1993, against defendant in the amount of \$2,000.00 for design fees owed to the plaintiff. The defendant's counterclaims were dismissed upon the merits. Notice of Appeal was filed on April 12, 1993.

VII.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR CONTINUANCE WAS UNREASONABLE.

It is well established that the trial court judge has the discretion to grant or deny motions for continuance and will not be reversed by the appellate court unless it is clear that the

court has abused its discretion by acting unreasonable. Hunt v. Hurst, 785 P.2d 414 (Utah 1990).

In the case at bar, the appellant was not given a reasonable amount of notice regarding the trial date. Consequently, the appellant filed a motion for continuance which was granted, but was, in effect, a denial when the court offered a one week continuance on a date that appellant could not attend trial and the same date of February 10, 1993, that was previously the trial date set. Such conduct by the trial court judge was an abuse of discretion by not providing appellant reasonable alternative dates to continue the trial.

II. THE TRIAL COURT'S STATEMENTS REGARDING SANCTIONS WERE INAPPROPRIATE AND PRECLUDED DEPOSING APPELLEE.

The trial court judge's lengthy, condescending statements and personal views as to the validity of taking the deposition of the appellee were inappropriate and, in effect, coerced appellant into not deposing appellee by threatening attorneys fees and costs against appellant. The trial court judge created an atmosphere of intimidation and inhibition in the courtroom and in effect denied appellant his fundamental due process right of having adequate time to prepare his defense through adequate discovery.

III. REFUSAL TO ADMIT RELEVANT DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE REGARDING WORK PERFORMED UNDER THE AGREEMENT WAS ABUSE OF TRIAL COURT'S DISCRETION.

The trial court abused its discretion by not admitting

relevant extrinsic evidence offered by appellant at trial. Appellant offered extrinsic evidence that went to the very issue of substantial performance regarding the contract between the parties. Appellant offered into evidence documents that were prepared by Susan St. James which evidenced invoicing, billing dates, check numbers, dates of payments, room-by-room breakdowns of who actually located furnishings, and who actually arranged for the purchase of the furnishings. Unfortunately, due to technical malfunction of the recording equipment, Susan St. James' testimony, appellant's motion to enter such evidence and his objections, appellee's attorney's objections to admissibility, and the courts denial of admission were not recorded and did not become part of the transcript.

IV. and V. THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACTS AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW ARE NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

Rule 52(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides that in all actions tried on the merits without a jury, the court shall find the facts specifically and state separately its conclusions of law. In order to determine whether the evidence adduced at trial supports the trial court's findings, the findings must provide sufficient detail and include facts to clearly show the evidence upon which they were grounded. Woodward v. Fazzio, 823 P.2d 474 (Utah App. 1991). The failure to enter adequate findings of fact to support material issues may be reversible error. Reid v. Mutual of Omaha Ins. Co., 776 P.2d 896 (Utah 1989).

In the case at bar, the trial court's findings that the appellee substantially performed her obligations under the contract are not supported with sufficient specificity and adequate evidentiary support. In addition, the trial court interpreted the contract between the parties based solely on appellee's extrinsic evidence and did not admit relevant extrinsic evidence that went to the issue of substantial performance offered by the appellant. Therefore, the trial court's findings were not adequately supported by the evidence and do not accurately reflect the trial court's findings.

VIII.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR CONTINUANCE WAS UNREASONABLE.

The issue is whether the trial court's denial of appellant's Motion for a Continuance was unreasonable such that it was an abuse of discretion. Batty v. Mitchell, 575 P.2d 1040, 1043 (Utah 1978).

Rule 40(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides the trial courts with substantial discretion in deciding whether to grant continuances "upon good cause shown." Utah R. Civ. P. 40(b) (1953 as amended 1987); Hunt v. Hurst, 785 P.2d 414 (Utah 1990); Christenson v. Jewkes, 761 P.2d 1375, 1377 (Utah 1988); Hill v. Dickerson, 839 P.2d 309, 311 (Utah App. 1992); Hardy v. Hardy, 776 P.2d 917 (Utah App. 1989). It is also well established that the trial judge's decision will not be reversed

by the appellate court unless it is clear that the court has abused that discretion by acting unreasonably. Id.

In determining whether to grant continuances, the court should examine the reasonableness of a request in light of the tradition that a party should be afforded every reasonable opportunity to be in attendance at his trial. Bairas v. Johnson, 13 Utah 2d 269, 373 P.2d 375, 378 (1962); see Gonzales v. Harris, 542 P.2d 842, 843-44 (Colo. 1975). The trial court should not prejudice the substantial rights of a party by forcing him to go to trial without being able to fairly present his case solely because of the court's legitimate concern for the prevention of delay in the trial of cases. Gonzales v. Harris, 542 P.2d at 844; Yates v. Superior Court In and For City of Pima, 120 Ariz. 436, 586 P.2d 997, 998 (Ariz. App. 1978). "One of the most important ingredients of due process is the time to prepare a defense." Nelson v. Jacobsen, 669 P.2d 1207, 1213 (Utah 1983).

Appellant contends that he was not given a reasonable amount of notice regarding the trial date. Notice of the trial hearing was not received by appellant until after the trial date was already set, due to the fact that he was out of the state conducting business at that time. As soon as he was notified of the trial date he filed his Motion for Request of Discovery and Motion for Continuance.

It is appellant's contention that the trial court's offer of a one week continuance beyond the original trial date was, in effect, a denial of the Motion for a Continuance and was

unreasonable under the particular circumstances of this case. Appellant, because of previously scheduled business obligations, would be out of the state of Utah on the only offered date of February 17, 1993. Thus, appellant was not given an actual choice or afforded another date, but was limited to the original trial date of February 10, 1993. The trial court's failure to grant a continuance resulted in denying appellant sufficient time to perform discovery and adequately prepare his defense.

Due to the fact that the trial court did not establish any cut-off date for discovery, appellant, as a pro se defendant¹, did not have a time table to determine when discovery was to be completed in this case. For that reason, during the five (5) months that expired between the time appellant answered appellee's complaint until the filing of his Motion for Continuance, he did not commence discovery in the expectation that the court would give him, a pro se defendant, some notice as to the discovery cut-off date. In addition, appellant was hoping in good faith to settle the matter before it ever went to trial.

Under these particular circumstances, the trial court's denial of appellant's Motion for a Continuance was unreasonable and inconsistent with substantial justice and, therefore, was an

¹. Courts, as a general rule, have held that a party who represents himself will be held to the same standard of knowledge and practice as any qualified member of the bar. Nelson v. Jacobsen, 669 P.2d 1207, 1213 (Utah 1983). However, The Utah Supreme Court has cautioned that "because of his lack of technical knowledge of law and procedure [a layman acting as his own attorney] should be accorded every consideration that may reasonably be indulged." Id. (quoting Heathman v. Hatch, 13 Utah 2d 266, 268, 372 P.2d 990, 991 (1962)).

abuse of its discretion.

II. THE TRIAL COURT'S STATEMENTS REGARDING SANCTIONS WERE INAPPROPRIATE AND PRECLUDED DEPOSING APPELLEE.

The issue is whether the trial court's statements concerning possible repercussions resulting from appellant's decision to depose witnesses was improper and precluded appellant from deposing witnesses.

Appellant contends that the trial judge's lengthy and condescending statements and personal views as to the validity of taking the deposition of the appellee in a \$3,000 collections case were inappropriate and ultimately denied him the fundamental legal right to depose the appellee/plaintiff in this case, and thereby, denied him access to discoverable information to help him adequately prepare for trial.

"One of the fundamental principles of due process is that all parties to a case are entitled to an unbiased, impartial judge. 'A fair trial in a fair tribunal is a basic requirement of due process.'" Padilla v. Utah Bd. of Pardons, 839 P.2d 874, 877 (Utah App. 1992) (quoting Anderson v. Industrial Com'n of Utah, 696 P.2d 1219, 1221 (Utah 1985)); see Bunnell v. Industrial Com'n of Utah, 740 P.2d 1331, 1333 (Utah 1987). "Fairness requires not only an absence of actual bias, but endeavors to prevent even the possibility of unfairness." Id. "The right to an impartial judge embraces a defendant's right to present and conduct his own defense unhampered by the judge's idea of what that defense should be or how it should proceed." State v.

Rhodes, 224 S.E.2d 631, 638 (N.C. 1976).

The Court's review of the record in Bunnell, showed that the administrative law judge ("ALJ") conducted the hearing in an unacceptable manner that was sufficiently unfair as to constitute a denial of plaintiff's constitutional right to a fair hearing. The ALJ created an atmosphere where witnesses were inhibited and intimidated by the judges conduct, and felt defensive; the ALJ interfered with the plaintiff's counsel's ability to make a record or argue the evidence; and the judge gave the appearance of having decided the case without even considering the medical records. Bunnell, 740 P.2d at 1333.

In the case at bar, the judge's statements and demeanor, although an attempt to merely educate the pro se defendant, had the effect of discouraging and persuading appellant from actually deposing the appellee and effectively denied appellant the legal right to depose the appellee, thereby, denying him access to discoverable information that would have helped him adequately prepare for trial. See Transcripts of Hearing, January 27, 1993. The trial judge's comments went far beyond the realm of informing or educating appellant. They in fact deterred appellant from deposing the appellee for fear of reprisal in the form of attorneys fees and costs against him. See Transcript of Hearing, January 27, 1993, p.18, lines 13-14. Such conduct was unreasonable. Thus, the trial court erred in its attempted explanation of the rules and abused its discretion in that regard. The trial court's conduct denied appellant right of due

process in this case by not affording him sufficient time or means to prepare an adequate defense.

The judge in this case created an atmosphere of intimidation and inhibition. Like the ALJ in Bunnell, the judge would abruptly cut-off appellant's attempt to object or express his disagreement with the trial court's purported explanation of sanctions. See Transcript of Hearing, January 27, 1993, p.13 lines 11-15, pp. 15-16.

Based on the foregoing arguments, appellant asks this Court to find that the trial court's statements regarding sanctions for deposing appellee were inappropriate and ultimately denied appellant the fundamental right of due process of having adequate time to prepare his defense.

III. REFUSAL TO ADMIT RELEVANT DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE REGARDING WORK PERFORMED UNDER THE AGREEMENT WAS ABUSE OF TRIAL COURT'S DISCRETION.

The issue involved is whether the trial court's decision not to admit appellant's documentary evidence of work performed by both parties to the contract was an abuse of discretion. Marshall v. Van Geruen, 790 P.2d 62 (Utah Ct.App. 1990).

Appellant contends that the trial court did in fact abuse its discretion by not admitting relevant documentary evidence that went to the very issue of substantial performance. However, because of technical difficulties, there is no record of the discussion and testimony between the parties and the court regarding the exclusion of appellant's documentary evidence.

"An admissibility decision is the `sum of several rulings, each of which may be reviewed under a separate standard.'" State v. Horton, 848 P.2d 708, 713 (Utah App. 1993) (quoting State v. Thurman, 846 P.2d 1256, 1270 (Utah 1993)). This Appellate Court in Horton, applied two standards of review in determining whether the trial court properly excluded a witness' affidavit: a correction of error standard to the legal content of the trial court's ruling not to admit the affidavit, Id.; see Thurman at 1268-72; and an abuse of discretion standard in reviewing the trial court's ruling, pursuant to Rule 804(b)(5) of the Utah Rules of Evidence. Horton, at 713.

In reviewing the legal content, the Court will examine (1) whether the trial court selected the correct rule of evidence, (2) whether the trial court correctly interpreted that rule, and (3) whether the trial court correctly applied the rule. Id. Applying an abuse of discretion standard in reviewing the trial court's ruling, pursuant to Rule 804(b)(5)², the Court will examine whether the probative value of the evidence in question

² Rule 804(b)(5) of the Utah Rules of Evidence provides: A statement not specifically covered by any of the foregoing exceptions but having equivalent circumstantial guarantees of trustworthiness [will not be excluded] if the court determines that (A) the statement is offered as evidence of a material fact; (B) the statement is more probative on the point for which it is offered than any other evidence which the proponent can procure through reasonable efforts; and (C) the general purposes of these rules and the interests of justice will best be served by admission of the statement into evidence.

outweighs the probative value of other evidence on point. Id. For rulings requiring a balancing of factors an abuse of discretion or reasonability is the appropriate standard of review. Id.; see Thurman at 1270 n. 11; see also State v. Knowles, 709 P.2d 311, 312 (Utah 1985).

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