1993

Yvonne Gillham dba Concepts West Interior v. Donald E. Armstrong : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I.THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING HOMEOWNER'S MOTION FOR CONTINUANCE.

Homeowner was given more than adequate time to prepare his defense and to take discovery. The homeowner cannot show an abuse of discretion. The denial of the Motion for Continuance was harmless error. This issue is without merit or likelihood of success.

II. THE TRIAL COURT'S STATEMENTS TO THE HOMEOWNER REGARDING RULE 11 SANCTIONS DID NOT PREVENT A FAIR TRIAL.

The trial court was attempting to educate the pro se defendant regarding the Rules of Civil Procedure. A pro se defendant is, nevertheless, held to the same standard of conduct as one who is licensed to practice law. No objection was raised to the remarks and conduct of the trial judge and is therefore barred as being raised for the first time on appeal.

III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT REFUSE TO ADMIT EVIDENCE OFFERED BY THE DEFENDANT.

The homeowner attempts to unilaterally supplement the record, and introduce evidence that is not part of the record on appeal. This is in clear violation of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure regarding record supplementation. Because the homeowner has not complied with Rule 11 (U.R.A.P.), this Court must presume the trial court's decision was correct, valid and, supported by the evidence.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW WERE PROPER AND SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

Homeowner's statement of the standard of review is incorrect. The purported evidence supporting homeowner's argument is barred from consideration by virtue of the U.R.A.P. 11 violation cited above. The trial court's findings of fact are supported by the clear weight of the evidence and there is no indication from the record that the trial judge failed to adequately deliberate and consider the merits of the case. Automatic Control Products v. Tel-Tech, 780 P.2d 1258 (Utah 1989). Designer substantially performed under the agreement and is entitled to judgment.

V. THE FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW ACCURATELY REFLECT THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS.

The trial court's findings and conclusions are accurately reflected in the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.

VI. U.R.A.P. 33 SANCTIONS SHOULD BE IMPOSED ON HOMEOWNER FOR THE BRINGING OF A NON-MERITORIOUS, BAD FAITH APPEAL.

Homeowner has pursued this appeal even though it has no reasonable likelihood of success; has displayed a pattern of dilatory practices, which has unreasonably increased the cost of this appeal; has failed to exercise reasonable inquiry when stating questions of law and standards of review before this Court; and has failed to comply with the clear requirements of the Rules of Appellate Procedure, specifically with respect to the attempt to unilaterally supplement the record. Rule 33 Sanctions are therefore appropriate.

VII. U.R.A.P. 40(a) SANCTIONS SHOULD BE IMPOSED ON THE HOMEOWNER AND HIS ATTORNEY FOR HIS REPEATED FAILURE TO ADHERE TO THE RULES OF THIS COURT.

Homeowner's counsel mischaracterizes the proceedings below, misstates basic questions of law, attaches unrelated authority, and has submitted to this court matters and evidence which are not part of the official record. The designer in each case has been required to respond to homeowner's violation or non-compliance with this Court's Rules of Procedure. Rule 40(a) Sanctions are therefore appropriate.

VIII.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING HOMEOWNER'S MOTION FOR CONTINUANCE.

The Homeowner is required to show an abuse of discretion to sustain any merits of his continuance argument on appeal. Hill v. Dickerson, 839 P.2d 309 (Utah App. 1992), citing Christenson v. Jewkes, 761 P.2d 1375, 1377 (Utah 1988) and Hardy v. Hardy, 776 P.2d 917, 925-26 (Utah App. 1989).

Homeowner's stated reason for urging the continuance of the trial date was for the furtherance of discovery. See *Transcript of Hearing*, January 27, 1993, p. 2. Prior to his discovery requests of January 15, 1993, the homeowner had performed no discovery. The trial court ordered that all discovery requests made by the homeowner were to be complied with, no later than February 3rd, 1993. See *Transcript of Hearing*, January 27, 1993, p. 20. All discovery as requested by the homeowner were supplied on or before February 3, 1993. All depositions as requested by the homeowner were actually scheduled and were to be conducted on February 5, 1993. See *Transcript of Hearing*, January 27, 1993, p. 20. The homeowner, after receipt of discovery information from the designer, declined to conduct the depositions.

At the hearing on January 27, 1993, the court also offered to continue the trial date to February 17, 1993, but the homeowner declined that date. See *Transcript of Hearing*, January 27, 1993, p. 18. Homeowner had over five months for depositions and discovery to be undertaken. It is undisputed that homeowner, during that five-month period of time, undertook no formal discovery. Homeowner waited until three weeks before the

scheduled trial to begin this process by filing requests for discovery and depositions on January 15, 1993. The homeowner complains that the trial court's denial of his Motion for Continuance was unreasonable. The homeowner then fails to show even one instance where he was unable to fairly present his case because of the denial of the Motion for Continuance. This case is a basic collection matter, based upon a written agreement prepared in its entirety by the homeowner. The evidence presented at trial by both parties consisted of documents and statements that were entirely known to both parties.

The homeowner makes no attempt to show how the denial of his Motion for Continuance prevented him from obtaining a fair trial. Other than the bald assertion that he did not have time to prepare, the homeowner does not even suggest how the trial court's denial precluded him from fairly presenting his case.

Ample time was allowed after the commencement of the lawsuit to utilize discovery procedures. It is well established law that a trial court is vested with substantial discretion in deciding whether requests for continuance should be granted. It is also firmly established that the trial courts decision will not be reversed unless it is clear that the trial court has abused that discretion by acting unreasonably. U.R.C.P. 40(b); Hunt v. Hurst, 785 P.2d 414 (Utah 1990); Christenson v. Jewkes, 761 P.2d 1375, 1377 (Utah 1988); Hill v. Dickerson, 839 P.2d 309 (Utah App. 1992). In Hunt, a pro se party's motion for continuance was denied where the pro se party had five months for discovery,

prior to submission to the trial court on Motion for Summary Judgment, in a dental malpractice action. The facts and circumstances of that action were far more complex than those which exist in this case. The Utah Supreme Court held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the pro se party's Motion for Continuance. Hunt at 416.

The homeowner complains that the trial court did not provide him with a discovery "cut-off" date. There is no record of any such request having ever been made, and this matter is now raised for the first time on appeal. Rule 16 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (U.R.C.P.) and Rule 4-502(5) of the Utah Code of Judicial Administration (U.C.J.A.) are dispositive on the matters related to pre-trial scheduling and management, and discovery procedures in civil cases. Under Rule 16 U.R.C.P., the trial court in its discretion, or upon motion of a party, may order such conferences as may be appropriate for a particular case. No motions were ever filed by either party pursuant to Rule 16 U.R.C.P. No mention or objection as to the lack of a scheduling conference has been raised by the homeowner prior to bringing this appeal. The issue is barred as being raised for the first time on appeal.

The court also complied with the provisions of Rule 4-502(5) U.C.J.A., and allowed homeowner discovery requests that were made within 30 days before the trial date. All discovery requested by the homeowner was allowed by the trial court, and all requests were responded to by the designer. See *Transcript of Hearing*,

January 27, 1993, p.17-20. The homeowners claims are obviously frivolous and without merit.

The trial court offered homeowner its best choices in trial dates available to the court, within the time and resource constraints then affecting the trial court. *Transcript of Hearing*, January 27, 1993, p. 21. To assign error to the trial court for homeowner's choice is illogical. The travel schedule of the homeowner was his choice. The homeowner now contends that his choices about that travel schedule should be error assigned to the trial court. The trial court scheduled the trial date approximately six months from the date after the Complaint was filed. The homeowner, by his own statement, was available for that trial date, and could not attend a later date because of his travel schedule. The homeowner must accept responsibility for his scheduling choice. See *Transcript of Hearing*, January 27, 1993, pp18-21.

Finally, the homeowner claims that a substantial right was affected when the trial court denied his Motion for Continuance. Homeowner offers no reason why the five months prior to trial was not an ample length of time to prepare his defense. The only claim that homeowner forwards on this matter is, that this Court should upset the trial court's ruling because the trial court would not accommodate homeowner's travel schedule. See *Transcript of Hearing*, January 27, 1993, pp18-21. This does not amount to a showing of an abuse of discretion.

This claim of error is without merit, it has no reasonable

likelihood of success and is entirely frivolous in its character.

II. THE TRIAL COURT'S STATEMENTS TO THE HOMEOWNER REGARDING RULE 11 AND RULE 26(g) SANCTIONS WERE REASONABLE AND PROPER AND DID NOT PREVENT A FAIR TRIAL.

It is well established that the permissiveness used for discovery procedures has limitations, and that these limitations should serve the primary purpose of the rules of Civil Procedure which are to ". . . secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action." State Road Commission v. Petty, 412 P.2d 914 (Utah 1966). The trial court has the power and discretion to impose sanctions on parties who frustrate this objective. Under Rule 11 and 26(g) U.R.A.P. a party signing motions, documents, and other discovery requests certify by that signature that those requests are interposed in good faith. The trial judge in the present case was merely trying to encourage such an outcome by his explanations of these rules of Civil Procedure to the pro se defendant.

The appropriate characterization of the trial court's statements regarding homeowner's decision to depose the designer are clear from the *Transcript of Hearing* on January 27, 1993. See *Transcript of Hearing*, January 27, 1993, pp. 10-13, 15-17. Simply stated, the trial court was attempting to explain to a pro se party the requirements of good faith and the possible imposition of Rule 11 and Rule 26(g) (U.R.C.P.) sanctions on all participants in the litigation in the event that the court was

convinced of the bad faith of any of the parties. The court explained that either party is subject to sanctions, including costs and attorney's fees, if they act in bad faith toward each other and needlessly increase the cost of litigation to the opposing party. The following language of the Court illustrates the Court's indulgence of the homeowner, and the court's attempt to explain the basic legal precept of good faith requirements to the homeowner:

THE COURT: Well, I'm not going to award you attorney's fees if you didn't incur any, number one. You've chosen to be pro se. If in the course of a trial you were to convince me that this action was brought in bad faith, without any legitimate basis, that if your costs were--if Mr. Gold required you to take depositions and do things that were simply a waste of time and running up costs, then absolutely, I would consider a motion to award fees back.

But that's not what I have before me. I have a plaintiff that brought an action. There was no ostensible reason why a deposition should be taken in the case. And if that proves to be correct, that there was no needful, appropriate reason for the deposition, I'm just telling you you're on the hook for the costs of those.

If Mr. Gold required something for you to do that incurred a cost that was not needful, it was merely for harass, delay, then absolutely you're going to be looking--you'd be entitled to some sanctions back to him. The rules apply both ways.

Judge Roger Livingston, Trial Court Judge, Transcript of Hearing, January 27, 1993, pp. 16-17.

Rule 26(g) (U.R.C.P.) specifically provides that a court, upon motion or upon its own initiative, may impose appropriate sanction, including reasonable expenses incurred, upon a party whose discovery certification is made in violation of the rule.

Rule 26(g) specifies the areas which a party's good faith and reasonable inquiry certification apply: That the party's request, response, or objection is "(1) consistent with these rules and warranted by existing law or a good faith argument for the extension, modification, or reversal of existing law; (2) not interposed for any improper purpose, such as to harass or to cause unnecessary delay or needless increase in the cost of litigation, and;(3) not unreasonable or unduly burdensome or expensive, given the needs of the case, the discovery already had in the case, the amount in controversy, and the importance of the issues at stake in the litigation." Rule 26(g) U.R.C.P.

The statements of the trial court judge relate precisely to the specific good faith and reasonable inquiry requirement of Rule 26(g) and Rule 11 (U.R.C.P.). The homeowner does not complain or allege that the statements of the judge are in any way incorrect or improper in light of Rule 26(g). That allegation cannot be made by the homeowner because Judge Livingston's statements are a correct and precise statement of a party's responsibility to conduct discovery in good faith.

The homeowner characterizes the issue of remarks and conduct of the trial judge as that of an exclusive question of law. To this end, he cites Mountain Fuel Supply Co. v. Salt Lake City Corp., 752 P.2d 884 (Utah 1988). See Appellant's Brief, pl. The linkage and attribution of authority in this argument defies logic. The question presented is one of the appropriateness of the remarks and conduct of the trial judge. That issue is in no

way related to the decision reached in Mountain Fuel. Mountain Fuel establishes a standard of review where questions of law regarding equal protection are exclusively raised on appeal. The homeowner's citation of authority and characterization of the questions of law presented are clearly inappropriate.

A pro se defendant is held to the same standard of conduct as one who is licensed to practice law. Nelson v. Jacobsen, 669 p.2d 1207, 1213 (Utah 1983), reaffirmed by Worst v. Department of Employment Security, 818 p.2d 1036, note 3 (Utah App. 1991).

However, under the doctrine that a lay person acting as his or her own attorney should be accorded every consideration that may reasonably be indulged, the trial court, in the present case, undertook to explain the implications of unnecessarily increasing the cost of litigation to the designer. After indulging the pro se defendant in a lengthy explanation of the rules of the court, the trial court waived the U.R.C.P. requirement for discovery at least 30 days before trial and granted the homeowner's Motion for Discovery. It is impossible for the designer to guess at how this indulgence by the court "precluded" the homeowner from taking the requested depositions.

Alternatively, even if the trial court erred in its explanations of the rules to the homeowner, there was no objection raised by homeowner to the remarks and conduct of the trial judge. This Court will not address an issue raised for the first time on appeal. Progressive Acquisition, Inc. v. Lytle, 806 P.2d 239, 242 (Utah App. 1991). See also: Gaston v. Hunter,

588 P.2d 326 (Ariz. App. 1978) (party waives his right to appeal in instance of judicial misconduct if he fails to object at a time when alleged misconduct could be cured); First Realty & Inv. Co., Inc. v. Rubert, 600 P.2d 1149 (Idaho 1979) (whether trial court improperly commented from bench was not preserved for appeal where appellants had not objected to trial court's remark); Phil-Co Feeds, Inc. v. First Nat. Bank in Havre, 777 P.2d 1306 (Mont. 1989) (party did not preserve for appeal issue of judicial misconduct in connection with judge's alleged "volcanic anger" at off-record bench conference, where party did not object at time of action).

Homeowner next argues that because pro se defendant disagreed with the trial court's ruling, that he thereby served his notice of objection to the conduct of the trial judge. A disagreement does not rise to the level of an objection if it is not calculated to obtain a ruling thereon. Barson v. Squibb, 682 P.2d 832, 837 (Utah 1984). The Utah Supreme Court announced the standard as follows:

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